IN THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA COURT OF APPEALS



Appeal No. 24-CV-0942

Received 01/29/2025 07:15 PM Filed 01/29/2025 07:15 PM

MEDSTAR GEORGETOWN MEDICAL CENTER, INC., ET AL.,

Appellants

v.

DAVID S. KAPLAN

Appellee

Appeal from the Superior Court for the District of Columbia (The Honorable Ebony Scott) Case No. 2021 CA 004820 M

BRIEF OF APPELLANTS

Larry D. McAfee (Bar No. 457226 Rachel I. Viglianti (Bar No. 984340) Gleason, Flynn, Emig & McAfee 11 North Washington Street, Suite 400 Rockville, Maryland 20850 (301) 294-2110 lmcafee@gleason-law.com rviglianti@gleason-law.com

*Janet A. Forero (Bar No. 422014)
Derek M. Stikeleather (Bar No. 997292)
Goodell, DeVries, Leech & Dann, LLP

STATEMENT OF JURISDICTION

This appeal is from a final judgment that disposes of all parties' claims. *See* D.C. Court of Appeals Rule 28 (a)(5).

ISSUES PRESENTED

- 1. Did the trial court abuse its discretion by allowing a verdict sheet that encouraged the jury to award duplicative damages?
- 2. Was it an abuse of discretion for the trial court to refuse to deliver a curative instruction and subsequently refuse to grant a new trial after Mr. Kaplan's counsel conflated "safety" with the standard of care and anchored damages at \$4 million during closing argument?
- 3. Did the trial court abuse its discretion in refusing to reduce the excessive \$4 million judgment?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Appellee, David Kaplan, filed personal injury claims against Appellants MedStar Georgetown University Hospital (the "Hospital") and MMG-GI at Lafayette Center d/b/a/ MedStar Medical Group II, LLC (together, "Medstar Providers") alleging negligent medical treatment and failure to obtain informed consent related to his treatment for Crohn's disease. (Joint Appendix ("App.") 1875). In April 2024, a jury found the MedStar Providers liable under both theories and awarded Plaintiff \$4 million in non-economic damages. (App. 1872-73). On September 26, 2024, the Superior Court denied the MedStar's post-trial motions for judgment notwithstanding the verdict, a new trial, and remittitur. (App. 1874-1908). The MedStar Providers timely noted this appeal. (App. 4).

RELEVANT FACTS

A. David Kaplan's diagnosis of Crohn's disease

David Kaplan began experiencing gastrointestinal symptoms in late summer 2018, when he was 34 years old. (App. 46-47, 719). He first sought treatment from gastroenterologist Dr. James Frank¹ on September 13, 2018. (App. 412-43). Based on the results of a sigmoidoscopy and Mr. Kaplan's report of symptoms, Dr. Frank diagnosed Mr. Kaplan with Crohn's disease, which is essentially "an inflammatory disorder of the GI tract." (App. 149-50, 412-15, 721).

Dr. Frank prescribed prednisone, a steroid, to alleviate the symptoms and ordered follow-up tests. (App. 722). Although Mr. Kaplan did not recall being informed of the risk of avascular necrosis (AVN), also known as aseptic necrosis, Dr. Frank's contemporaneous notes indicate that it was discussed as a potential side effect of steroid use. (App. 722-23, 421-22, 1912). Mr. Kaplan testified that during the time he was under Dr. Frank's care he "wasn't doing well at all," was "in a lot of pain," and had lost 24 pounds in two weeks. (App. 722).

In late September, Mr. Kaplan transferred his care to Dr. Mark Mattar² at the Georgetown IBD Clinic (the "Clinic"). (App. 724-27, 1916-18). At Mr. Kaplan's first visit on October 3, 2018, Dr. Mattar said he agreed with Dr. Frank's diagnosis

¹ There are no allegations of negligence against Dr. Frank. (App. 47).

² Dr. Mattar is stipulated to be an employee of the MedStar Providers. (App. 950)

of Crohn's disease, gave Mr. Kaplan instructions for tapering down the prednisone dosage by 5 milligrams per week, and prescribed mesalamine in the hopes of achieving remission. (App. 164, 333). Dr. Mattar discussed the possible need for biologic therapy with Mr. Kaplan if the mesalamine was unsuccessful in reducing the symptoms. (App. 333). To prepare for the potential need for biologic treatment, Dr. Mattar instructed Mr. Kaplan to choose a primary care physician and obtain blood work, a chest X-ray, a TB test, and a pneumonia vaccine. (App. 167, 249-50, 1125-27).

B. Mr. Kaplan's mesalamine treatment and ultimate transition to biologics.

Per Dr. Mattar's instructions, Mr. Kaplan reduced his prednisone dose from 60 mg to 40 mg on October 3, 2018. (App. 162-64, 1917). When he tried to reduce to 35 mg, however, he reported new onset of bloody stool, and the providers at the Clinic advised him to return to the 40 mg dosage. (App. 164-65, 2777).

On November 7, 2018, Mr. Kaplan obtained the chest X-ray and follow-up blood work but by November 16th had still not gotten the pneumonia vaccine. (App. 2657, 2660). Mr. Kaplan also reported that he was still taking 40 mg of prednisone because his attempts to taper had been unsuccessful. (App. 2660). Ten days later, after eight weeks on mesalamine, Mr. Kaplan successfully tapered to 35 mg with no increase in symptoms. (App. 2787).

For the next month, Mr. Kaplan was able to taper to 25 mg of prednisone and then to 15 mg. (App. 2793). On December 27, 2018, he emailed the Clinic to report that he was experiencing an increase in leakage and overnight bowel movements. (*Id.*). On January 2, 2019, Nurse Practitioner Aimee LeStrange³ advised Mr. Kaplan to schedule an appointment to discuss next steps. (App. 2796).

At a January 23, 2019 appointment, Nurse Practitioner LeStrange discussed the risks and benefits of Stelara (a biologic) and anti-TNF medications with Mr. Kaplan. (App. 2664-65). Based on Mr. Kaplan's family history of lymphoma, the decision was made to proceed with Stelara injections. (App. 2665-66, 2676). After receiving insurance approval, the first injection was scheduled for February 18th. (App. 2682). Because Mr. Kaplan became dizzy and hypotensive due to a vasovagal reaction, the initial Stelara attempt was discontinued. (App. 2693, 2696-97). His first successful infusion occurred on March 7, 2019. (App. 2700). Mr. Kaplan reported immediate symptom relief and was then able to taper off the prednisone completely. (App. 775-76).

C. Mr. Kaplan developed AVN and received a bilateral hip replacement

Around June 26, 2019, Mr. Kaplan developed severe hip pain. (App. 776-77). His orthopedic surgeon diagnosed Mr. Kaplan with bilateral avascular necrosis, a

³ Ms. LeStrange is stipulated to be an employee of the MedStar Providers. (App. 950)

rare but recognized side effect of steroid use. (App. 778-79, 2316, 2462). Ultimately, Mr. Kaplan underwent two hip replacement surgeries, one in July 2020 and the other in November 2020. (App. 781, 783).

D. Mr. Kaplan sued his providers, alleging medical negligence and lack of informed consent.

In December 2021, Mr. Kaplan sued the MedStar Providers alleging they breached the standard of care by delaying Mr. Kaplan's transition to a biologic treatment and failing to inform him of the risk of AVN. (App.1875). The breach, Mr. Kaplan alleged, caused his AVN and led to bilateral hip replacements. (*Id.*)

1. Trial evidence of negligence and causation.

Mr. Kaplan called two standard of care experts at trial. Both testified that steroid use is recommended for short-term alleviation of symptoms of Crohn's disease, but that the standard of care required a complete taper by three months. (App. 162, 639). According to Mr. Kaplan's experts, Dr. Mattar breached the standard of care by not transitioning Mr. Kaplan to a biologic treatment by early to mid-November. (App. 180-82, 206, 238-39, 644-45). Had Dr. Mattar done this, the experts testified, Mr. Kaplan would have discontinued steroid use within three months, as they claimed the standard of care required. (App. 206-07, 645).

Mr. Kaplan's experts also testified that the standard of care required Dr. Mattar to inform Mr. Kaplan that the longer he was on prednisone, the higher the risk of developing AVN. (App. 197-98, 619-20, 645-46). While they agreed that

Dr. Frank advised Mr. Kaplan that AVN was one of the side effects associated with steroid use, they opined that a second warning was required some months later. (App. 197-98, 619-20).

The Medstar Providers' standard of care expert testified that it was within the standard of care for a newly diagnosed Crohn's patient to be on prednisone for up to a year while identifying an appropriate maintenance medication. (App. 1296-97). He also testified that, given Mr. Kaplan's report of improved symptoms, it was within the standard of care to continue him on mesalamine and attempt to taper the prednisone. (App. 1314-17, 1339-40).

As to causation, Mr. Kaplan's orthopedic expert testified that steroid use was the most likely cause of his AVN. (App. 475-76). The expert acknowledged that there was no "set point" at which a patient develops AVN due to steroids use, and it could develop after one or two months of taking 40 mg of steroids daily. (App. 529, 535-36). Thus, Mr. Kaplan's expert acknowledged Mr. Kaplan could have already developed AVN by October 21st or November 21st, well before his experts claim the standard of care required a complete taper. (App. 536). In other words, the steroids taken at the inception of Mr. Kaplan's treatment —which are not criticized by his experts — could have independently caused Mr. Kaplan's AVN.

Mr. Kaplan's expert also testified that symptoms of AVN typically take between five and seven months to manifest. (App. 537). Mr. Kaplan reported hip

pain to his orthopedic surgeon on June 26, 2019, so Plaintiff's AVN likely developed between late November 2018 and late January 2019. (App. 777, 2465). This means that, even under Mr. Kaplan's experts' standard of care, his AVN still would have developed when he was tapering.

The MedStar Providers' experts testified that Mr. Kaplan's AVN was caused by several factors including prednisone and Crohn's disease, which increase the risk of AVN. (App. 984, 991). Because of these associations, nothing would have changed had Mr. Kaplan discontinued prednisone a few weeks earlier, the expert testified. (App. 994-95).

2. Trial evidence of Mr. Kaplan's damages.

Mr. Kaplan testified that he had hip pain from July of 2019 through recovery from his hip surgeries in November 2020. (App. 780-84). Afterwards, Mr. Kaplan testified, his level of pain was "night and day," and he is "very grateful." (App. 788). His left hip is "phenomenal," and his right hip is "pretty good too[.]" (App. 787).

The evidence established that Plaintiff has no limitations on his activities of daily living—he can walk, drive, work, travel, and go to the farmer's market. (App. 788-89). Mr. Kaplan can exercise and play sports; he testified that he rows, bikes, and uses an elliptical machine. (App. 789-90). Other than high intensity running and competitive soccer, Mr. Kaplan can do everything he did before his hip surgeries. (App. 789-90).

Mr. Kaplan testified that rowing, biking, and the elliptical are "not the same" as competitive soccer and running, and he found it "hard to replace" those things that were very important to him. (App. 790). He also testified that he had "some embarrassment" when explaining his hip replacements to his girlfriend and that it impacted "intimate activities" with his girlfriend "a little bit." (App. 791).

In terms of lasting physical effects, Mr. Kaplan said that he cannot cross his legs very well, and he gets sore more quickly than before the surgeries. (App. 891). According to his experts, Mr. Kaplan's hip replacements will likely last approximately 25 years. He may need revision surgery when he is in his late 50's or early 60's. (App. 502, 545). However, Mr. Kaplan's treating orthopedic surgeon and defense expert opined that his hip replacements will likely last the rest of his life. (App. 905-906).

E. The trial court approved a verdict form with two lines for non-economic damages.

Mr. Kaplan sought no economic damages at all, only non-economic damages. Yet the verdict sheet approved by the trial court over the MedStar Providers' objection instructed the jury to consider two awards — one for "past and future physical injury" and another for "past and future emotional distress." (App. 1873).

Counsel for the MedStar Providers explained why having two lines for what amounts to one award for "pain and suffering" was improper and prejudicial to them.

Pain and suffering, counsel explained, is defined in the jury instructions and each

element of "pain and suffering," such as physical injury, future effects on physical well-being, and past and future emotional distress are part and parcel of a single category of damages. (App. 1727-29). Asking the jury to parse out a single category of damages "five different times or three different times or even two different times" prejudices defendants. (App. 1728).

The trial court overruled the objection of the MedStar Providers and included two lines for a single category of damages.

F. Mr. Kaplan's counsel emphasized safety during closing argument and anchored damages at \$4 million.

Mr. Kaplan's closing arguments repeatedly referred to the "safe" use of corticosteroids, the MedStar Providers' alleged failure to "protect" Mr. Kaplan, and direct appealed to the jury's own safety interests. (App. 1763-69). Mr. Kaplan's counsel characterized the intent of the guidelines she claimed constituted the national standard of care as helping doctors "who are treating patients like David do it safely and well. And that is what the national standard of care is." (App. 1761).

Counsel continued the theme a few moments later, stating:

It's Dr. Mattar's job to protect this patient. Dr. Mattar knows this is dangerous and he only has limited time to move.

You're almost halfway through your safety zone, and he's still on 40 milligrams. This is the last chance.

So had they done what they needed to do to protect David, he would have gone on these biologics in November. And you heard Dr. Schoen say the earlier you go on and get off those—and try to get off those

steroids, the easier it is to get off them and the quicker you can get down and get off and be safe and stay within the safety zone. And that's what's important, but that's what they didn't do. They didn't protect David, and David didn't know.

(App. 1764-65, 1767-68).

She continued, saying, "David was on steroids for seven months continuously, more than double the safe time," and "[t]he science determines what's safe, what the safe window is. And you don't go outside it. Because you don't want to be a statistic and you don't want to get to an unsafe place because we don't know where that line is[.]" (App. 1769, 1778).

In response to the MedStar Providers' objection, the trial court found the repeated references to safety improper because "the jury instruction" on standard of care "doesn't use the word 'safety." (App. 1845-46, 1847-49). The court declined to give a curative instruction however, and instead, only reminded the jury that the standard of care is defined in the jury instructions. (App. 1849, 1855).

In addition to conflating the standard of care with "safety," Mr. Kaplan's counsel employed a recognized heuristic known as "anchoring." Counsel's very last comment during initial closing argument was that it was up to the jury "as a collective group" to determine the value of Mr. Kaplan's injuries. (App. 1788).

⁴ As explained in Argument Section II.C, humans tend to estimate value by assigning an initial value and adjusting up or down from there. When the initial value is "anchored" at a higher number, the result tends to be biased in favor of that number.

"Some of you might think it's worth \$4 million. Some of you might think it's three. Some might think it's worth six. It's completely up to you, ladies and gentlemen. David Kaplan trusts you to decide." (App. 1788).

The MedStar Providers objected to counsel's anchoring and asked the court to instruct the jury to disregard any suggestion of a specific amount of damages. (App. 1846). The trial court acknowledged that some trial court judges "have determined that anchoring is inappropriate" and that suggesting a range of damages "does in fact anchor" but declined to deliver a curative instruction. (App. 1849-51).

G. The jury awarded Mr. Kaplan \$4 million in damages, the first number in counsel's anchored range.

The jury found in favor of Mr. Kaplan and awarded him \$2.5 million in damages for "past and future physical injury" and \$1.5 million for "past and future emotional distress." (App. 1866-67).

H. The trial court denied the MedStar Providers' post-trial motions.

The MedStar Providers filed post-trial motions seeking judgment notwithstanding the verdict, a new trial, or, in the alternative, a remittitur of damages. They argued that Mr. Kaplan's closing was improper, the evidence was insufficient to prove breach of the standard of care and causation, the verdict sheet created the likelihood of duplicative damages, and the damages were excessive. The

trial court denied the motions in an omnibus order dated September 26, 2024. (App. 1874-1908). The MedStar Providers noted a timely appeal.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

This Court should vacate the judgment because the trial court abused its discretion. *First*, the trial court allowed the use of a verdict sheet with separate lines for "past and future physical injury" and "past and future emotional distress," rather than a single line for this indivisibly intertwined category of damages. In so doing, the trial court promoted duplicative damages. The trial court's refusal to order a new trial or reduce the duplicative \$1.5 damages is error.

Second, Mr. Kaplan's counsel delivered an inflammatory and misleading closing argument, tantamount to a golden rule argument, by urging the jury to penalize the MedStar Providers for failing to "protect" Mr. Kaplan and to keep him "safe." The argument conflated "safety" with the national standard of care, to the detriment of the MedStar Providers.

Third, Mr. Kaplan also improperly "anchored" the jury to \$4 million in non-economic damages in his closing argument, and the jury gave precisely that amount. The trial court erroneously refused to issue curative instructions or order a new trial.

The verdict is excessive, and the trial court abused its discretion in refusing to vacate or reduce it.

ARGUMENT

I. The trial court abused its discretion when it provided the jury a verdict sheet that encouraged duplicative damages.

Mr. Kaplan sought only non-economic damages. That is, he did not claim economic losses, such as lost wages or unpaid medical bills. He asked the jury to compensate him only for the intangible distress caused by his AVN and bilateral hip replacement. Although he sought a single category of damages, Mr. Kaplan urged the court to draft a verdict sheet that included separate monetary awards for specific subsets of non-economic damages, like disfigurement and scarring. (App. 1726).

The trial judge declined to include a line for disfigurement but said she would follow the standard jury instruction on damages and provide a line for "past and future physical injury" and a separate line for "past and future emotional distress." (App. 1733). Over the objection of the MedStar Providers, this damages question on the verdict form was submitted to the jury:

5.		What	amounts	do you	find	would	fully	and	fairly	compensate	David	Kaplan	for	the
following elements of his damages?														
Past and Future Physical Injury						\$								
Past and Future Emotional Distress						\$				_				

(App. 1873).

Under the circumstances of this case, it was an abuse of the trial court's discretion to instruct the jury to separate monetary damages for "physical injury"

and "emotional distress." Parsing out closely intertwined damages likely resulted in a duplicative award.

A. Non-economic damages are a single category for purposes of a monetary award.

Colloquially referred to as "pain and suffering," non-economic damages are comprised of a group of imprecise and overlapping categories, such as "pain, mental anguish, anxiety, emotional distress, and nervous shock." Noah Lars, *Comfortably Numb: Medicalizing (and Mitigating) Pain-and-Suffering Damages*, 42 U. Mich. J.L. Reform 431, 432 (2009).

Because these concepts are inextricably intertwined, courts have generally "not attempted to draw distinctions between the elements of 'pain' on the one hand, and 'suffering' on the other," instead referring to the "unitary concept" of "pain and suffering" to allow for recovery "not only for physical pain but for fright, nervousness, grief, anxiety, worry, mortification, shock, humiliation, indignity, embarrassment, apprehension, terror or ordeal." *Capelouto v. Kaiser Found. Hosps.*, 500 P.2d 880, 883 (Cal. 1972). "Suffering," as one court has pointed out, "means distress, whether physical or emotional." *Marxmiller v. Champaign-Urbana Mass Transit Dist.*, 90 N.E.3d 1064, 1075 (Ill. App. 4th 2017). "Emotional distress or mental anguish is a component of suffering, not an element of damages unto itself." *Id.*

B. Allowing separate awards for physical and emotional damages on the verdict sheet was an abuse of discretion.

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