#### No. 24-CV-0942



	OF COL	
\$10 ×	* * *	***
A CO	PY OF APPY	

		Clerk of the Court
MEDSTAR GEORGETOWN	)	Received 02/24/2025 08:11 AM
MEDICAL CENTER, INC., et al.,	)	Filed 02/24/2025 08:11 AM
	)	
Appellants,	)	Superior Court No.
	)	2021-CA-004820-M
V.	)	(Scott, J.)
	)	
DAVID S. KAPLAN,	)	
	)	
Appellee.	)	
**********	*	

# APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA

## **BRIEF FOR APPELLEE**

#### Of Counsel

CATHERINE D. BERTRAM D.C. Bar No. 425052 katie@blg-dc.com

KIERAN MURPHY D.C. Bar No. 1765449 kieran@blg-dc.com

BERTRAM & MURPHY 601 Pennsylvania Ave. NW South Building, Suite 965 Washington, DC 20004 202-803-5800 ALFRED F. BELCUORE\*
D.C. Bar No. 181560

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

#### **SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT**

- 1. The parties received a fair trial. No reversible error taints the jury's verdict and the trial judge's decision upholding it.
- 2. The verdict form was the product of the trial judge's exercise of informed discretion; it was consistent with the law; and in fact, MedStar's trial counsel expressed his satisfaction with it. "Physical injury" and "emotional distress" are two distinct elements of recoverable compensatory damages.
- 3. Appellee's closing argument was within the bounds of fair advocacy. This Court has approved the two challenged arguments.
- 4. Assuming MedStar's belated objections to the two passages were cognizable, the trial judge applied controlling jurisprudence and acted well within its discretion in its ruling and overall management. The court's jury instructions included the very curative instruction MedStar had requested with respect to one challenged argument. The court also charged the jury that it must base its decision only on the evidence, and that counsel's comments were not evidence. The jury presumptively followed these instructions.
  - 5. The jury's damage award was reasonably based on the substantial

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> In re M.L., 28 A.3d 520, 528 (D.C. 2011) (quoting other controlling authority).

evidence of Kaplan's injuries. No inflammatory evidence or rhetoric, or error of law, influenced the jury, which was attentive and deliberate. Applying controlling authority, mindful of demeanor and other trial nuances, and stating its rationale in a clear and comprehensive opinion, the court below properly denied the requested new trial or remittitur. There was no abuse of discretion.

#### **ARGUMENT**

# **Fairness Commends Enforcing The Judgment Below**

"The trial court's actions in this case were rational and reasonable, resulting in a trial that was certainly fair."

### A. The Verdict Form Introduced No Error; There Are No "Duplicative Damages"

#### 1. MedStar Failed To Preserve Its Objection

A litigant must object to proposed jury instructions "on the record," "before the instructions and [closing] arguments are delivered," and by "stating distinctly the matter objected to and the grounds for the objection." Instructing a jury on how to record its decision is an essential element of a trial judge's jury instructions. <sup>11</sup>

25

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> Blackwell v. Dass, 6 A.3d 1274, 1281 (D.C. 2010).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup> D.C. CIVIL R. 51(c)(1), (2)(A).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>11</sup> See D.C. CIVIL R. 49(a)(2), (b)(1).

MedStar's trial conduct reflected a collegial and cooperative effort to fashion a verdict form meeting the requirements of the law. After the court had discussed the form with the parties and indicated what it proposed to do, MedStar noted that it "still" requested its proposal "but we understand the ruling of the Court" (JA 1733). Later, however, just before the court was to instruct the jury, MedStar's counsel affirmatively reported MedStar's agreement with the court's verdict form and that MedStar was "satisfied" (JA 1741).

All litigants bear the consequences of their lawyers' tactical decisions, including whether to object. "Any other notion would be wholly inconsistent with our system of representative litigation." MedStar's experienced trial counsel knew how to preserve objections; indeed, after MedStar's counsel had expressed satisfaction with the verdict form, MedStar's counsel also agreed with the other instructions but expressly said MedStar's agreement was "[s]ubject to the prior objections already argued" (JA 1741).

\_

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>12</sup> Link v. Wabash R. Co., 370 U.S. 626, 633-34 (1962); see also Bell v. Westinghouse Electric Corp., 483 A.2d 324, 327 (D.C. 1984) (losing a tactical benefit does not amount to a denial of a legal right).

There was no such reservation with respect to the verdict form. MedStar did not resurrect its criticism until after the jury had rendered its verdict. <sup>13</sup> MedStar may not belatedly criticize a form it helped develop and then approved.

#### 2. The Verdict Form Was Soundly Based

In any event, the verdict form betrays no abuse of discretion; it embraced the pertinent "material factual issues" and follows controlling authority. 14

MedStar does not dispute that Kaplan is entitled to recover for "Past and Future Physical Injury" and for "Past and Future Emotional Distress." It argues that the trial court abused its discretion by presenting these as separately recoverable elements of loss. MedStar's position is incorrect for several reasons.

First, as a matter of law, "physical injury" and "emotional distress" are separate and distinct and each may be recoverable. This Court's jurisprudence, and the common law, teach this fundamental proposition. MedStar's *ipse dixit* that they

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>13</sup> See Durphy v. Kaiser Found. Health Plan of Mid-Atlantic States, 698 A.2d 459, 470 (D.C. 1997) (an "argument may not be kept in a litigant's 'hip pocket, to be produced only in the event that [the litigant] loses'"); see also, e.g., Young v. United States, 305 A.3d 402, 429-31 (D.C. 2023) (appellants "agreed to this jury instruction at trial, thus inviting the error and waiving any right to raise the claim on appeal"; citing several cases); Masika v. United States, 263 A.3d 1070, 1077 (D.C. 2021) (same).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>14</sup> See Brooks, 999 A.2d 134, 140 (D.C. 2010) ("[t]he controlling rule ... is that a trial judge has discretion to decide the 'form and substance' of verdict-form interrogatories so long as they cover all 'material factual issues'").

are "indivisible" (Br. 16) is wrong.

"If the applicable standard of care is breached, the person to whom the duty is owed may recover for damages proximately caused by the negligence, including damages for physical injury, monetary loss, and ancillary or 'parasitic' damages for related mental distress (sometimes referred to as 'pain and suffering'). See, e.g., Washington & Georgetown R.R. Co. v. Dashiell, 7 App. D.C. 507, 514 (1896) ('Where a party has suffered physical injury, it seems to be well settled, that mental pain and suffering, attendant upon and as a natural incident of such bodily injury, may be considered as an element in estimating the damages.').

\* \* \*

"We routinely allow recovery for pain and suffering as 'parasitic' damages when the plaintiff's emotional distress is caused by the defendant's invasion of another legally-protected interest, such as freedom from physical injury. *See, e.g., Bond v. Ivanjack*, 740 A.2d 968, 974-76 (D.C. 1999) (in medical malpractice case arising from doctor's failure to diagnose cancer, patient sought damages for 'mental anguish and emotional distress based on her fear of recurrence of her cancer')." <sup>15</sup>

Second, the trial judge gave the District of Columbia's Standard Jury

Instruction on damages (JA 1754-57). That instruction informed the jurors that
they were to consider "physical injury" and "emotional distress" separately. "The

\_

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>15</sup> Hedgepeth v. Whitman Walker Clinic, 22 A.3d 789, 795, 809 (D.C. 2011) (en banc); see also RESTATEMENT (SECOND) OF TORTS § 905 (Am. Law Inst. 1965) ("[c]ompensatory damages that may be awarded without proof of pecuniary loss include compensation (a) for bodily harm, and (b) for emotional distress").

jury is presumed to have followed these instructions, and this court will not 'upset the verdict by assuming the jury declined to do so.'"<sup>16</sup> (The trial court's jury instructions appear within the Addendum to this Brief.)

Third, MedStar argues as if the verdict form had one line for "pain and suffering" and another for "emotional distress." But, like the jury instructions, the verdict distinguished "physical injury" from "emotional distress" — two distinct injuries, both from the family of "pain and suffering." The court below was correct: "the case law is very clear that pain and suffering include emotional distress" (JA 117-18).

Fourth, MedStar wrongly suggests that damages like "pain and suffering" and "economic loss" cannot be separated into their constituent elements. In wrongful death cases, for example, juries may be presented verdict forms breaking

\_\_

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>16</sup>Harris v. United States, 602 A.2d 154, 165 (D.C. 1992) (en banc) (citations omitted); accord, Parker v. Randolph, 442 U.S. 62, 73 (1979) ("[a] crucial assumption underlying [our system of trial by jury] is that juries will follow the instructions given them by the trial judge," quoted with approval in Weeda v. District of Columbia, 521 A.2d 1156, 1163 (D.C. 1987) ("[i]f this is the rule to be applied in criminal cases where liberty is at stake, a fortiori, we must defer to it in litigation concerned only with money damages")); Blackwell, 6 A.3d 1278.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>17</sup> See, e.g., Hedgepeth, 22 A.3d 795, 809; see also PBA Local No. 38 v. Woodbridge Police Dep't, 832 F. Supp. 808, 820 (D.N.J. 1993) ("New Jersey courts have characterized the subjective symptoms accompanying emotional distress as within the definition of pain and suffering").

out "economic loss" into "lost wages" and "loss of household services." This Court has emphasized its preference for verdict forms enabling a reviewing court to isolate the jury's consideration of separate issues. <sup>19</sup> That is exactly what Kaplan urged and the trial judge's form allowed (*see* JA 1729).

Fifth, MedStar ignores controlling authority and instead for its "duplicative damages" contention invokes four cases from California, Illinois, and Kentucky that in fact support the decision below. Like two of MedStar's cases (*Capelouto* (California) and *Marxmiller* (Illinois) in MedStar Br. 14), the trial court recognized "pain and suffering" as a "category" of damages that includes within its ambit "physical injury" on the one hand and "emotional distress" on the other. But unlike the two other MedStar cases, the 40-year-old and 100-year-old Illinois and Kentucky decisions, <sup>20</sup> the court below did not purport to treat separately the overlapping "nature, extent and duration" of injury, "disability resulting" from injury, and "pain and suffering" from injury (*Powell*) or damages "for injuries to [plaintiff's] person," "damages for physical and mental suffering," and damages

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>18</sup> See, e.g., Batey v. Washington Hospital Center Corp., Case No. 2019 CA 6716 M (McKenna, J.), Verdict Form returned April 6, 2022, p. 3 (JA 2890).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>19</sup> See, e.g., Robinson v. Washington Internal Medicine Assocs., P.C., 647 A.2d 1140, 1143-45 (D.C. 1994).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>20</sup> Powell v. Ill. C. G. R. Co., 438 N.E.2d 152, 153-58 (Ill. 1982); South Covington & C. S. R. Co. v. Vanice, 278 S.W. 116, 120 (Ky. 1925).

for "impairment of [the injured person's] power to earn money" (*Vanice*). In this case, there was no overlap.

In sum, having been properly instructed that they "may" award Kaplan damages separately for his "physical" and "emotional" injuries (JA 1756), the jurors awarded him different amounts commensurate with their judgment about the extent of his injuries. Their decision is entitled to deference.

## B. Kaplan's Closing Argument Was Proper

MedStar complains about two passages in Kaplan's closing argument: trial counsel's references to "safety" when discussing standard of care and her use of the so-called "Colston argument." MedStar's contentions lack merit.

#### 1. MedStar Failed To Preserve Its Objections

MedStar delayed until after the parties' closing arguments, but before Kaplan's rebuttal argument, before objecting. There was no immediate objection and no motion for a mistrial.<sup>21</sup> MedStar's silence was particularly telling with

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>21</sup> See, e.g., Doe v. Medlantic Health Care Group, Inc., 814 A.2d 939, 953 (D.C. 2003) (no new trial based on closing argument where, among other things, counsel failed to object or request a mistrial); District of Columbia v. Bethel, 567 A.2d 1331, 1336-38 (D.C. 1990) ("the court must be satisfied not only that there was misconduct by counsel but also that, after objection, 'the court, by failing to apply appropriate disciplinary measures or to give suitable instructions, left the jurors with wrong or erroneous impressions, which were likely to mislead, improperly influence, or prejudice them to the disadvantage of the defendant" (citation omitted)).

regard to the *Colston* argument, since the court had admonished MedStar that, if it intended to object, its objection needed to come before closing arguments, or else "so be it."

Had there been a timely objection, and the Court agreed with it, Kaplan's trial counsel could have changed her syntax to meet any putative concern, or the Court could have given an immediate curative instruction. As the court below noted in its opinion after trial, MedStar's delay denied Kaplan and the trial Court that opportunity.

## 2. The References To Safety Were Soundly Based

a. This Court has upheld a trial court's approval of a litigant's even more pointed emphasis on "safety" when arguing "standard of care." In *President & Dirs. of Georgetown College v. Wheeler*, <sup>22</sup> plaintiff's counsel told the jurors:

"You know, the jury system in our country exists to protect the community. And in this medical malpractice case, you will decide what standards doctors must meet in the community when they provide care and treatment to patients. You will decide what standards doctors must meet to protect patient health and safety . . . . Remember, the standards . . . in the medical community exist for a reason. They have been developed by doctors for doctors. They exist to promote patient safety. They exist to protect patient health. They're to provide a medical care system that above all prevents harm that's avoidable. And what these standards are in this community is what you will be deciding when you go back to the jury room."

-

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>22</sup> 75 A.3d 280, 292-93 (D.C. 2013).

Noting the "broad deference" afforded the trial judge "who has the advantage of observing the arguments as they occurred," and "[b]ased on our own reading of counsel's comments," this Court found the trial judge's decision that there was "no impropriety" in this argument to be "rational" and entitled to deference: "Counsel merely explained the jury's role in determining the applicable standard of care. She did not urge the jury to penalize the appellants based on irrelevant considerations or to return a verdict that would 'send a message."<sup>23</sup>

b. To borrow language from one Virginia trial judge, Kaplan's trial counsel "properly use[d] her argument to explain to the jury what the applicable standard of care is, why the applicable standard of care exists, and why Defendants had a duty to adhere to the standard of care." The reference to "safety" was fair and apt:

"Clearly, patient safety is at the heart of medical malpractice law and the standard of care upon which it is based. Indeed, the protection of the public from unreasonable risk is at the heart of civil negligence tort law in general. It can hardly be said[] that the discussion of such matters during argument would unduly inflame the passion or prejudice of the jury. Likewise, it would be very difficult for the Court to determine at this point of

-

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>23</sup> Wheeler, 75 A.3d 292-93.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>24</sup> Mangum v. Inova Loudoun Hosp., 102 Va. Cir. 20, 25 (2019) (deferring resolution to trial but declining, *in limine*, to forbid reference to "safety" when discussing standard of care in closing argument).

the proceedings that, as a matter of law, Plaintiff may not refer in her arguments to 'safety rules' or to the 'protection of the public' or 'community' or to similar phrases that are not inconsistent with the applicable standard of care."25

MedStar claims Kaplan's counsel's use of the word "you" in her c. closing argument was an impermissible personal appeal to jurors (Br. 21). But MedStar is wrong; in the argument's context, "you" referred to the "patient" or to the "physician":

> "[A]ccording to the national guidelines, you're only supposed to stay on steroids for three months." (JA 1761.)

"[T]he time is ticking. According to the standards, we have three months....We've used up a month. What [the experts] said is you've got to move. You've got to act. You need to protect this patient." (JA 1763.)

"[Y]ou can't treat patients through an email.... Patients deserve your attention. If you're going to take them on, do it right." (JA 1765.)

"You're now another two weeks in. You're almost halfway through your safety zone, and he's still on 40 milligrams. This is the last chance. During November, you've got to act to get him off these steroids." (JA 1765.)

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